



National Headquarters
860 Dolwick Drive
Erlanger, KY 41018
tel 859-441-7300
toll free 877-426-2838
dav.org

June 28, 2024

Mrs. Teresa P. Johniken, Adjutant
Department of Texas
Disabled American Veteran
1015 Lee Ave.
Lufkin, TX 75901

EIN: 75-6053959

Dear Adjutant Johniken:

The Constitution and Bylaws for the Department of Texas is hereby approved as of this date.

A copy of this document is being returned to the Department and a copy is being retained in our permanent files here at National Headquarters for future reference.

Sincerely,

A handwritten signature in black ink, appearing to read "Michael E. Dobmeier". The signature is written in a cursive style with a large, prominent "M" and "D".

Michael E. Dobmeier
National Judge Advocate

MED:js
Enclosure

DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS CONSTITUTION

PREAMBLE

We, the disabled war veterans of the State of Texas, in tribute to those beloved comrades who have passed before us, and on behalf of our fellow comrades now living, and their dependents, united by strong bonds of respect and mutual suffering, do solemnly and firmly associate ourselves together in creating the Disabled American Veterans, Department of Texas.

ARTICLE I – ALLEGIANCE

This Department recognizes the National Organization known as Disabled American Veterans, Incorporated by Act of Congress, and affirms its allegiance, and subordination, to the National Organization, its Constitution, Bylaws and all rules, mandates and regulations promulgated pursuant thereto. Upon dissolution of the Department, the assets remaining after the payment of its debts shall be distributed as provided in Article 6, Section 6.4, Paragraphs 5 and 6 of the National Bylaws.

ARTICLE II - AUTHORITY

Under authority of the National Constitution and Bylaws of the Disabled American Veterans, there is hereby established the Disabled American Veterans, Department of Texas.

ARTICLE III - MEMBERSHIP

The Disabled American Veterans, Department of Texas, shall consist of all Chapters of such Department, which shall have been constituted as such, according to the provisions of this Constitution and Bylaws.

ARTICLE IV - ADMINISTRATION

There shall be a Department Executive Committee, which shall consist of the retiring Department Commander, the Department Commander, the Department Senior Vice Commander, the Department First Junior Vice Commander, the Department Second Junior Vice Commander, the Department Third Junior Vice Commander, the Department Fourth Junior Vice

Commander, the Department Executive Committee person of each of the three (3) Department Districts and the Department Finance Committee person elected by the three Department Districts.

ARTICLE V - LEGISLATIVE

The Department shall have the responsibility for arranging and conducting all aspects of the annual Department Convention, including the program, entertainment, and publishing of the official program. The legislative powers of the Disabled American Veterans, Department of Texas shall be vested in the voting members registered at the annual Department Convention. The Department Executive Committee shall determine the place where the convention shall be held not less than three (3) years in advance, upon recommendations made to it by the Department Commander. Invitations from delegations or cities in the Department Districts must be submitted in advance to the Department Commander. The Department Commander or his/her designated Department officer and the Department Adjutant/Treasurer will make an on-site examination of the proposed facilities to make sure of their adequacy for holding a Department Convention. After surveying all proposals, the Department Commander will recommend a selection of the convention site to be considered by the Department Executive Committee. The Department Convention shall be held during May or June annually, unless prohibited by a national emergency.

ARTICLE VI - EXECUTIVE

The executive power of this organization shall be vested in the Department Commander. He/She, or in his/her absence, the next highest officer, shall preside at all Department Conventions and all meetings of the Department Executive Committee.

ARTICLE VII – AUXILIARIES

The Department recognizes a DAV Auxiliary as an auxiliary unit of the Disabled American Veterans.

ARTICLE VIII - AMENDMENTS

This Constitution may be amended at any Department Convention by a three-fourths (3/4) vote of the regularly elected and registered delegates voting thereat. All proposed changes will be reported to the Convention Body on the second day of the Convention and cannot be acted upon or passed until the second reading which will be on the third day of the Convention; provided that such amendments do not become effective until approved by the National Judge Advocate.

DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS BYLAWS

ARTICLE I - DEPARTMENT CONVENTION

Section 1: Registration fees at each Department Convention shall not exceed thirty dollars (\$30.00) which shall be collected by the Department Adjutant/Treasurer and deposited by him/her in the general fund. The Department Adjutant/Treasurer will render a report of the receipts and disbursements to the Department Executive Committee within thirty (30) days after the adjournment of each convention.

Para. (a): Each chapter shall be assessed the following to be deposited in the Department Convention Fund:

- \$10.00 - 100 members or less
- \$20.00 - 101 to 1,000 members
- \$30.00 - 1,001 to 3,000 members
- \$40.00 - 3,001 members or more

Section 2: At each Department Convention, each Chapter shall be entitled to have two (2) delegates and two (2) alternates for the Chapter and one (1) delegate and one (1) alternate for each twenty-five (25) members or major fraction thereof who are listed on the membership rolls of the National Headquarters no earlier than 15 days prior to the first business session immediately preceding the date of the Department Convention, provided however, that recognition shall not be extended to any chapter which is not in good standing with the Department. In the absence of any delegate, his/her vote shall be cast by his/her alternate. In case any delegation is entitled to cast more votes than the number of delegates present, the votes of those absent shall be cast in the same proportion as the votes of those present. No delegate shall be seated who has not been duly elected and certified by his/her Chapter.

Section 3: All Past Department Commanders, each elected member of the Department Executive Committee and each accredited Chapter delegate to the Convention shall be entitled to one (1) vote. No one shall be allowed a Chapter vote if he/she elects to vote as a Department Officer, or Past Department Commander.

Section 4: The Department Executive Committee shall have full power to provide for all needs and matters incident to the convening of the Convention.

Section 5: All business matters of the Department Convention shall be considered during the first two (2) business sessions of the convention, amendments to the Constitution and Bylaws, final report of the Credentials Committee, and the Nomination and Election of Officers for the ensuing year shall be considered during last business session of the Convention.

Section 6: Immediately following the first session of the Department Convention, each Department Executive Committee person or his/her Alternate will call the delegates of his/her District into session; at which time there shall be (1) Finance Committee person and an alternate elected by each District. District one (1); two (2) and three (3) shall elect on EVEN numbered years a member to serve for two (2) years. Also, one (1) Department Executive Committee person and an alternate shall be elected. Districts one (1); two (2) and three (3) shall elect on ODD years a member to serve for two (2) years; to be installed at the Department Convention.

The delegates will elect three (3) members to serve on the Convention Committees, except the Nomination Committee, which shall have two (2) from each district.

No Chapter shall have more than one member on a Convention Committee until all Chapters have been given an opportunity. The Department Executive Committee person shall immediately certify on forms provided by the Department to the Department Adjutant/Treasurer the names of the duly elected Committee persons from their Districts. The Department Adjutant/Treasurer or his/her representative will post a list of all committee members elected on a bulletin board with the time and place of meetings in a prominent place as soon as the delegates are certified.

Para. (a): Should there be a contest in nominations, each Chapter will be entitled to the number of votes mentioned in Article 1, Section 2, of these Bylaws.

Section 7: The Department Convention shall elect a Department Commander, a Senior Vice Commander, a First Junior Vice Commander, a Second Junior Vice Commander, a Third Junior Vice Commander, a Fourth Junior Vice Commander a Judge Advocate, and a Chaplain. Such officers shall hold office from the time of their election and installation until their successor shall have been duly elected and installed. No Department Commander shall succeed himself/herself.

No person shall be elected to hold office in this Department unless said person is in attendance at the convention electing him/her. Upon completion of tenure of office each Department

Officer desiring to wear his/her official cap shall be required to have the word "past" on the cap; with the exception of Past Department Commanders who will wear the cap as directed by the National Constitution and Bylaws.

Section 8: Term of Office of Elected Officers: (a) In the case of the removal of the Department Commander from office, or his/her death, resignation, removal from the State, or his/her inability to serve, the duties of the office shall devolve to the Senior Vice Commander. In the case of the removal of the Department Senior Vice Commander, or his/her death, resignation, removal from the State, or his/her inability to serve, the duties shall devolve upon successive numbered Vice Commanders.

(b) Elected Department Officers and Department Executive/Finance Committee Persons may be removed from office, for cause, by a two-thirds vote of the Department executive Committee.

Section 9: Convention Rules: (a) Rule 1: Robert's Rules of Order (revised) will govern the proceedings of the convention when not covered by the DAV National or Department Constitution and Bylaws.

Rule 2: Department officers shall serve as officers of this convention.

Rule 3: Each Chapter delegation shall select a chairperson to cast votes.

Rule 4: No delegate or alternate representing any Chapter whose charter has been suspended or revoked and has not been reinstated prior to the first business meeting of the convention shall be entitled to vote.

Rule 5: When a department officer or delegate desires to be recognized, they will address the chair as "Comrade Commander." Upon being duly recognized, the officer or delegate will identify himself/herself by giving his/her name and chapter or office that he/she represents.

Rule 6: In a dispute, a delegate will be allowed one rebuttal not longer than 3 minutes on the same question. Additional recognition may be granted by a two-thirds vote of the delegates present.

Rule 7: Voting on all questions, other than the election of Department Officers will be made by voice vote, except when the delegates from at least five (5) Chapters request a roll call vote. A roll call vote on all elective officers will be held unless there is no opposition.

Rule 8: Discussion of personal grievances, local conditions, or claims concerning one individual only, with respect to his/her personal interest, shall not be in order before the Convention, but may be discussed before the committees of the Convention with the approval of the respective

committees.

Rule 9: No resolution will be discussed on the floor of the Convention until it has been reported by the committee to which it has been assigned, except by unanimous consent of the delegates. Minority reports regarding any resolution shall be in order immediately following the majority report.

Rule 10: Committees of this Convention will be those committees mentioned in the Department Bylaws, plus any other committees that the Commander deems to be necessary.

Rule 11: Convention Committees may originate, amend, or modify such resolutions as they desire to sponsor, which pertain to the subject with which they are charged.

Rule 12: The following Committees are hereby provided as the Committees of the Convention: Credentials Committee; Committee on General Resolutions, National Security, and Membership; Committee on Legislation and Veterans Rights; Committee on Constitution and Bylaws; Committee on Employment; Committee on Hospital and Voluntary Services; Committee on Nomination of Department Officers. No committees will meet during a business session without the permission of the Chair.

Duties of these Committees are as follows:

(a): CREDENTIALS COMMITTEE: This committee will be appointed by the Department Commander, with the assistance of the Department Adjutant/ Treasurer. It shall make out a roll call of all Chapters and Department Officers showing the number of votes to which each is entitled and present the same at the first business session.

(b): COMMITTEE ON GENERAL RESOLUTIONS, NATIONAL SECURITY, AMERICANISM, AND MEMBERSHIP: This committee shall consider all matters which are not covered by the resolutions referable to other committees of the Convention. It shall formulate and give expressions of thanks, appreciation, and condolences, in resolutions form, and shall consider housing problems as they may affect disabled veterans. It shall consider all matters referred to it which pertain to Citizenship, Americanism, National Defense, or the Security of the United States. It shall consider all matters concerning membership activities.

(c): COMMITTEE ON LEGISLATION AND VETERANS RIGHTS: This Committee shall consider all resolutions proposing or requiring legislation on compensation, pensions, legal and guardianship matters and appeals, as well as on all matters of policy and procedure with the Veterans Affairs, including problems requiring legislation on compensation, pensions, legal and guardianship matters and appeals, and all other matters in which other public and private

agencies charged with the rehabilitation and improvement of disabled veterans and their dependents are concerned.

(d): COMMITTEE ON CONSTITUTION AND BYLAWS: This Committee shall give consideration to those resolutions which pertain to proposed amendments to the Department or National Constitution, the Department or National Bylaws, and the National Ritual. It shall also consider all matters relative to DAV Auxiliary of the Disabled American Veterans All proposed changes shall be provided to the delegates the morning of the first day of the Convention and voting thereon shall be held prior to the election of officers.

(e): COMMITTEE ON EMPLOYMENT: This committee shall consider all matters with reference to all forms of employment of disabled veterans as well as preference rights in examination, appointment, retention, promotions or employment or re-employment rights in Federal Civil Service and in state, county, and city governments. This committee will also consider matters relating to vocational rehabilitation, education, and training, except those provided for in Title 38, U.S. Code.

(f): COMMITTEE ON HOSPITAL AND VOLUNTARY SERVICES: This committee shall consider questions concerning the standards of medical care delivery by VA hospitals and out-patient clinics, and all matters pertaining to the DAV voluntary service program.

(g) COMMITTEE ON WOMEN VETERANS RIGHTS: This Committee shall consider all resolutions proposing or requiring legislation on compensation, pensions, legal and guardianship matters and appeals, as well as on all matters of policy and procedure with the Veterans Affairs, pertaining specifically to women veteran issues.

(h): COMMITTEE ON NOMINATION OF DEPARTMENT OFFICERS: This committee shall consider and present to the Department Convention a slate of candidates which it shall nominate for department officers.

Rule 13: The election and installation of Department Officers will be the last order of business prior to adjournment of the Convention.

Rule 14: One nominating and one seconding speech will be permitted for each candidate for elective office.

Rule 15: The Department Adjutant/Treasurer or assistant has the sole authority to assign committee rooms. Chairpersons will notify the Adjutant/Treasurer or assistant when they are through with the room.

Rule 16: Committee meetings or caucuses may be held during business sessions only with the

permission of the Chair. (Article 1, Section 7)

Rule 17: All cell phones & pagers shall be silenced during business meetings. Texting should be done outside the business session.

(b) Amendment of Rules: The foregoing rules of the Convention may be amended by majority of the body during the first business session of the Department Convention.

ARTICLE II - DEPARTMENT COMMANDER

Section 1: The Department Commander in office at the time of the National Convention shall be the Department Delegate. In the event of inability of the Department Commander to attend the Convention, the next ranking elective Department Officer shall act as the Department Delegate.

Section 2: The Department Commander, with the approval of a majority of the members of the Department Executive Committee, shall have the authority to call a meeting of said committee, or meetings may be called by request of fifty-one percent (51%) of the members of the Department Executive Committee provided however, that written notice of the time and place of the meeting shall have been given all members of the committee by the Department Adjutant/Treasurer not less than ten (10) days in advance. Such notice may be sent by E-Mail, Fax, or U.S. Mail to all Committee Members, who must acknowledge receipt of the communication.

Section 3: The Department Commander shall have the power to submit in writing to the members of the Department Executive Committee through the office of the Department Adjutant/Treasurer as a referendum ballot on any such question as may be determined. The replies received by USPS, UPS or like service, facsimile, or e-mail from same shall be considered as approval or rejection. All members of the Executive Committee shall be notified in writing how all ballots were cast and by whom. A simple majority is cause for approval or disapproval. All members shall be notified within 30 days after ballots are submitted.

Section 4: The Department Commander shall appoint a Department Adjutant/Treasurer, a Chief-of-Staff, Legislative Director, a Department Sergeant- at-Arms, a Department VAVS Chairperson and any other officers and committees he/she deems necessary. Appointees must be members of the Department of Texas, and their appointment is subject to the approval of the Department Executive Committee. Notwithstanding anything in these Bylaws to the contrary. The Department Commander shall appoint one member to the Department Service

Commission, for a term of three years. This appointee must be members of the Disabled American Veterans, Department of Texas, and their appointment is subject to the approval of the Department Executive Committee. Such appointive office holders shall have no entitlement to a vote in the Department Executive Committee or the Convention because of the appointive office.

Section 5: The Department Commander may serve as an ex-officio member of the Finance Committee should a member and the alternate be unable to serve.

ARTICLE III - DEPARTMENT FINANCES

Section 1: The revenue of the Department shall be derived from per capita tax, service fees, contributions, and ten (10%) percent of the net profits of all bingo, lounge and/or thrift store operations. All other chapter fund raising activities will be assessed five (5%) percent of the net profits, excluding Forget-Me-Nots and Veteran's Appreciation Day. Net profit shall be defined as the amount of money received from the operator, less any funds disbursed to other Chapters and any reasonable Chapter expense directly related to the management of the operations. For those Chapters receiving funds from the operating chapters, 10% of those funds will be sent to the Department. Payments to the Department by Chapters will be made within ninety (90) days following the Chapter's fiscal year.

Section 2: A copy of the audit required by National Constitution and By-Laws Article 9, Section 9.3 Para 1 will be furnished to the Department not more than ninety (90) days following the reporting period.

Section 3: The funds of this Department shall be deposited in banks or financial institutions agreed upon by the Department Commander, Department Adjutant /Treasurer, and the Department Finance Committee.

Section 4: All monies received by the Department shall be deposited to the credit of the Department. No withdrawals, transfers or payments from these funds shall be permitted except on the basis of numbered voucher system and/or Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT), including all budget line items. Each voucher shall be signed by any two (2) of the following three (3) officials: the Department Adjutant/Treasurer, Department Commander, or Department Senior Vice Commander. All expenditures must have prior approval by the Department Executive Committee.

Section 5, Para. (a): The Chairperson of the Finance Committee will be elected by the Finance Committee yearly from their own membership. Before the Department Convention the Department Finance Committee will meet immediately prior to the meeting of the Department

Executive Committee. The Department Adjutant/Treasurer shall serve as secretary to the Department Finance Committee meetings and will maintain minutes of their deliberations.

Para. (b): It shall be the responsibility of the Department Finance Committee to establish the budget to be reported to the Department Convention.

Para. (c): It shall be the responsibility of the Department Finance Committee to ensure that the finances of the Department are handled at all times in an economical and business-like administration of its financial affairs. The Department Commander shall have the power to call special meetings of the Department Finance Committee. Nothing in this Section shall prevent the Department Finance Committee from any actions it deems necessary to carry out its responsibilities.

Para. (d): The Department Finance Committee shall have the power to call special meetings on its own initiative when any three (3) members thereof acting in concert, giving proper notice of at least ten (10) days of the time and place of said meeting to all members of said committee stating therein the business to be considered at said meeting.

Para (e): It shall be the duty of the Department Finance Committee to annually set a written policy covering the authorized expense of travel and per-diem for all elected and appointed Department Officers.

ARTICLE IV - DEPARTMENT EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Section 1: The Department Commander, with the approval of a majority of the members of the Department Executive Committee, shall have the authority to call a meeting of said committee, or meetings may be called by request of fifty-one percent (51%) of the members of the Department Executive Committee provided, however, that written notice of the time and place of the meeting shall have been given all members of the committee by the Department Adjutant/Treasurer not less than ten (10) days in advance. Such notice may be sent by E-Mail, Fax, or U.S. Mail to all Committee Members, who must acknowledge receipt of the communication.

Section 2: A majority of the members of the Department Executive Committee shall constitute a quorum.

Section 3: The Department Executive Committee shall meet within twenty-four (24) hours after adjournment of the Department Convention to transact such business as may properly come

before it.

Section 4: All legislative, administrative, and executive matters not otherwise specifically covered by the provisions of this Constitution or by action of the Department Convention shall be determined by a majority vote of the Department Executive Committee except as otherwise provided.

ARTICLE V - ADJUTANT/TREASURER

Section 1. Para. (a): The Department Adjutant/Treasurer, subject to the instructions, decisions, resolutions and mandates of the Department Commander, Department Executive Committee, or the Department Convention, shall supervise and direct all activities of the Department.

Para. (b): In addition to the other duties and powers set forth in these Bylaws, the Department Adjutant/Treasurer shall be the Chief Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer of this Department and shall be the Secretary of and attend the meetings of the Department Executive Committee and Department Finance Committee, with no vote. He/She shall send complete copies of the minutes of each meeting of the Department Executive Committee and Department Finance Committee to each of its members.

Para. (c): The Department Adjutant shall appoint a Department Inspector with the approval of the Department Executive Committee.

ARTICLE VI - OTHER DEPARTMENT OFFICERS

Section 1. The Department Judge Advocate shall be the legal advisor of the Department. His/her duties and responsibilities shall be identical in regard to the Department as those of the National Judge Advocate as defined in Article 7 of the National Bylaws.

Section 2: The Department Chaplain shall perform such duties as prescribed in the official ritual of the National Organization.

Section 3: The Duties of the Department Inspector shall be identical in regard to the Department as those of the National Inspector General as defined in Article 7 of the National Bylaws. The Department Inspector shall be solely responsible to and under the direct supervision of the Department Adjutant.

Section 4: The duties and responsibilities of the Department VAVS Chairperson will be as outlined in the National DAV VAVS Service Manual.

ARTICLE VII - CHAPTERS

Section 1: New members will be assigned to the Chapter whose meeting place is nearest their home unless the member requests to be assigned to a different Chapter. All members in good standing in a Chapter whose charter has been revoked will be transferred as specified in Article 6 of the National Bylaws.

ARTICLE VIII - DEPARTMENTAL

Section 1: Nepotism will not be permitted in the hiring of Department employees. The employment of the Adjutant/Treasurer will be approved by the Department Executive Committee. Department Service Program employees must be approved by the Department Service Commission. All other Department employees can be hired by the Adjutant/Treasurer in accordance with Department Policy.

Section 2: No Department officer or employee may accept long distance collect telephone calls at Department expense.

Section 3: The Department of Texas will be responsible for the recording of the transcription of the minutes of the Annual Conventions; cost of such recordings and transcription shall be defrayed by registration fees.

Section 4: The Department shall operate under a budget which shall be prepared by the Department Finance Committee and approved by the Department Executive Committee before each Department Convention. Copies of the budget shall be provided to the convention delegates.

Section 5: The DAV Department of Texas Chief Financial Officer shall place a quarterly Financial Position on the Department webpage in accordance with the DAV National Constitution and By-Laws; Article 8; Section 8.4: Financial Records, Reports.

ARTICLE IX - DEPARTMENT DISTRICTS

* **Section 1:** The Department of Texas shall be divided into three districts; each district will include the chapters listed in tables (I) through (III) below.

* **Section 2:** The chapters will be assigned in order to distribute the voting strength in the districts as evenly as possible. In the event that a new chapter is chartered it will be added to the district with the least votes

Table (I): District I

| | | |
|-----|-----|-----|
| 6 | 16 | 20 |
| 32 | 36 | 41 |
| 42 | 44 | 47 |
| 57 | 58 | 63 |
| 70 | 81 | 89 |
| 106 | 137 | 157 |
| 222 | 240 | |

Table (II): District II

| | | |
|-----|-----|-----|
| 3 | 4 | 22 |
| 27 | 29 | 74 |
| 76 | 78 | 83 |
| 86 | 121 | 126 |
| 139 | 147 | 150 |
| 169 | 194 | 195 |
| 200 | 203 | 204 |
| 219 | 233 | 234 |
| 236 | 238 | 239 |

Table (III): District III

| | | |
|-----|-----|-----|
| 5 | 10 | 14 |
| 17 | 25 | 61 |
| 95 | 114 | 128 |
| 187 | | |

Section 2: No more than three (3) months nor less than one (1) day prior to each annual Department Convention, the Chapters of each District, then in good standing, may meet and elect such officers as deemed necessary to conduct the business of the district.

Section 3: All District Officers may wear the standard blue and white cap available from National. When an officer's term expires, the word "Past" will appear on the cap.

ARTICLE X - JOE EARLEY DEPARTMENT SERVICE PROGRAM

Section 1: The Joe Earley Department Service Commission will, subject to supervision and control of the Department Commander and the Department Executive Committee, be responsible for the Service Program of the Department of Texas, Disabled American Veterans.

Section 2: The Commission shall each year select its own chairperson. Each commissioner shall serve until his/her successor has been appointed. Any vacancy other than expiration of term shall be filled by a second appointment by the Department Commander. No member of the Department Service Commission shall receive a salary from the Department for fulfilling duties of that office.

Section 3: The Department Service Commission shall have exclusive authority to appoint a Department Service Director and to employ Department Service Officers. The work of such Director and Department Service Officers shall be under the direct control of the Department Service Commission and the Department Commander, provided that:

Para. (a): The Department Service Director will have direct supervision over all Department Service Officers and shall recommend the hiring or termination of Department Service Officers.

Para. (b): The National Service Officer in charge of the appropriate National Service Office shall provide training for new Department Service Officers to include schools of instruction and refresher courses, at least annually, and supervisors are asked to submit recommendations for improvement of the Joe Earley Department Service Program to the Department Service Commission.

Section 4: The Department Service Commission shall meet at the Department Convention and at District 2or at the call of the Department Commander, as required to conduct business.

Para. (a): Service Commission members will be paid travel expenses and per diem from the Joe Earley Department Service Program's Travel fund.

Section 5: The budgetary recommendations prepared by the Department Service Director will be reviewed by the Department Service Commission and then presented to the Department Finance Committee for appropriate action. The Commission will include in this budget such amounts as are deemed necessary for the expenses of the Joe Earley Department Service Program.

Para. (a): While the Department Finance Committee approves the budget of the Joe Earley

Department Service Program, the Department Service Commission and the Department Commander shall be responsible for recommending the disbursing of funds for the service activities of the Department.

Section 6: Except as outlined in this Article, the Department Service Commission is authorized to adopt rules, regulations, procedural practices, employment, and personnel policies necessary to carry out its duties and responsibilities of the Joe Earley Department Service Program.

Para. (a): The Department Service Commission shall keep, as permanent records, full and accurate minutes of all its meetings and its authorization and directions. It shall furnish to the Department Commander a copy of the minutes of all meetings. The Department Service Commission shall make a full and complete report of its activities to the Department Commander and to the Department Convention.

Article XI - Disabled American Veterans Department of Texas Service Foundation

Para 1: The Department of Texas recognizes the creation of a subordinate entity called DAV Department of Texas Service Foundation (hereafter "Foundation"). The Foundation shall have the sole purpose to provide a direct and substantial benefit to ill and injured veterans, their dependents, and their survivors. In addition, the Foundation shall have the purpose of supporting programs and activities sponsored by DAV National Organization, DAV Department of Texas, Department of Veterans Affairs, and other organizations supporting veterans.

Para 2: The Foundation may fundraise with the approval of, and subject to the conditions that may be imposed by, the National Bylaws, National Executive Committee Regulations, Department Bylaws, and Department Executive Committee.

ARTICLE XII- AMENDMENTS

Para. (a): These Bylaws may be amended at any Department Convention by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the regularly elected and registered delegates voting thereat. Provided that such amendments do not become effective until approved by the National Judge Advocate.

Para. (b): To the extent to which any of the provisions of this Constitution and Bylaws are, or may at any time become, inconsistent or in conflict with the provisions of the Constitution and Bylaws and lawful mandates, decisions and regulations of the National Organization, as now in force or as hereafter amended or adopted, this instrument shall be deemed amended as to conform thereto.

Para. (c) Editorial changes and/or corrections that do not modify or change the content of any section may be done without requiring approval."

MED
BLANK

I hereby certify that the Constitution and Bylaws as are contained herein are correct as amended by the Department Convention in San Marcos, Texas, June 22, 2024, and as corrected and approved by the National Judge Advocate:

Attest:


Teresa Johniken, Department Adjutant


John Hicks, Department Commander

Approved:


Dennis R. Nixon, Department Judge Advocate


Michael E. Dobmeier, National Judge Advocate

I CERTIFY that this constitution and/or by-laws do not conflict with those of the National Organization, and to that extent is approved.

I CERTIFY that the within constitution and/or by-laws does not conflict with those of the National Organization, and to that extent, is approved.

Date: 6-28-2024
DAV National Judge Advocate

11/11/11